## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

COASTAL PETROLEUM COMPANY, a Florida corporation,

Petitioner,

vs .

CASE NO. 74,975 FIRST DCA CASE NO. 88-119

MOBIL OIL CORPORATION, a New York corporation,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY PROCEEDING TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA, CERTIFYING A QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

1

PETITIONER COASTAL PETROLEUM COMPANY'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT J. ANGERER Post Office Box 10468 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (904) 576-5982 Florida Bar ID **#178546** 

Attorney for Petitioner COASTAL PETROLEUM COMPANY

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

(a) Nature of the Case. This case is a discretionary proceeding to review a decision of the District Court of Appeal, First District of Florida, denying certiorari of a judgment for costs in the amount of \$2,117,992.34 in Leon County, Florida, after a voluntary dismissal of a counterclaim, and is brought here pursuant to Rule 9.120, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, and Article V, Section 3(b)(4), Florida Constitution (1980), to review decisions of district courts of appeal that pass upon a question certified to be of great public importance. The District Court certified the following question:

"DOES THE TERM 'COSTS' IN RULE 1.420(d), FLORIDA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, INCLUDE REASONABLE AND NECESSARY PREPARATION COSTS AND FEES OF EXPERT WITNESSES WHO WERE NEVER CALLED TO TESTIFY BECAUSE A PLAINTIFF VOLUNTARILY DISMISSED?" (A-7)

(The certified question refers to a voluntary dismissal by "Plaintiff." Actually, Mobil Oil Corporation (Mobil), the plaintiff, did voluntarily dismiss its remaining claims, but the costs which were assessed against Coastal Petroleum Company (Coastal), a Defendant, arose after Coastal voluntarily dismissed its <u>counterclaim</u>.)

(b) <u>The Course of Proceedinss.</u> The case started when Mobil Oil Corporation sued Coastal Petroleum Company in 1976 seeking declaratory and other relief. Coastal answered and

filed counterclaims. Mobil prevailed upon some of its claims and was awarded an interest in Coastal's leases, but ultimately relinquished the interest for a release of one of Coastal's counterclaims. Mobil, the Plaintiff, filed what it called a "reply counterclaim" to Coastal's remaining counterclaims (A-109). The Trustees, joined by Coastal, removed the case to Federal Court based upon this reply counterclaim (A-95). Ultimately the case was remanded to the Circuit Court in Leon County by the Federal court (A-98).

The counterclaim and "reply counterclaim" involved essentially the same root issues addressed by this Court's decision in Coastal Petroleum Company v. American Cyanamid Company, 492 So.2d 339 (Fla. 1986) (A-123). Coastal filed a voluntary dismissal of its counterclaim (A-21). Mobil filed a voluntary dismissal of its own "reply counterclaim" (A-24) claiming to be the prevailing party. Mobil sought its costs under Rule 1.420(d), Fla.R.Civ.P., against Coastal, principally for fees for expert witnesses, who never testified and who were never qualified, incurred principally during periods while the case was removed to Federal court (A-30).

(c) <u>Disposition in the lower tribunal</u>. The trial court granted a final judgment for costs against Coastal in the amount of \$2,117,992.34 (A-8). Coastal petitioned the

District Court of Appeal, First District, for a writ of certiorari to review the cost judgment entered after its notice of voluntary dismissal. On October 19, 1989, the District Court denied the petition for writ of certiorari (A-1), but certified a question as being of great public importance (A-7).

(d) <u>Statement of the Facts</u>. Coastal is the lessee of three State of Florida leases covering large areas of sovereignty lands. Mobil entered an exploration contract with Coastal in 1964 in which it could earn an interest in certain areas of the leases.

Mobil brought this suit in 1976 against Coastal seeking a one-half interest in areas of Coastal's leases. Coastal answered and filed counterclaims and eventually the Florida Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund filed claims against Mobil (A-26). After a trial on Mobil's claims and two of Coastal's related counterclaims, the Circuit Court, on February 20, 1979, ruled in favor of Mobil, granting it a one-half interest in certain areas of the leases. Costs were assessed and paid by Coastal. These initial judgments were affirmed.

Mobil filed a new claim, the so-called "reply counterclaim" seeking declarations and determinations concerning the exact issues raised by Coastal's and the Trustees' phosphate-related counterclaims (A-109).

Plaintiff Mobil's express purpose in bringing this new claim was to <u>prevent</u> any voluntary dismissal of the phosphate claims (A-111,112).

Ironically, on December 18, 1979, premised upon this new claim by Mobil, the Trustees, joined by Coastal, removed the case to the United States District Court in Tallahassee, Florida (A-95). After the removal to Federal court, the phosphate claims were prepared for trial. Most of the expert preparation efforts and costs, 82%, occurred after removal to Federal Court.

One of the removed claims, the "oil show" claim, proceeded to trial in Federal Court and a jury awarded Coastal \$11 million in compensation and \$9 million in punitive damages against Mobil for breach of contract and misrepresentation. Mobil appealed the judgment and the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals reversed the judgment on March 4, 1982, finding that the removal to Federal Court was improper.

Following this reversal by the Eleventh Circuit, the Federal Court remanded the case to the Leon County Circuit Court, <u>expressly reserving the sole issue of costs</u> to itself (A-98). After remand, Mobil filed with the Federal Court a Bill of Costs, including some expert and non-expert items of cost, but not including the other Federal costs it submitted to and which were awarded by the Circuit Court here. The Federal District Court disallowed the requested expert fees,

which are generally not allowed under federal law, assessed the balance, and Coastal paid those costs (A-105).

After remand from Federal Court to the Circuit Court, Mobil and Coastal agreed to settle Coastal's "oil show" claim which had resulted in the \$20 million judgment. Mobil assigned and released any interest it had to Coastal's leases (including any obtained by its judgment on its claims) and Coastal released the "oil show" counterclaim. Thus in 1986, what remained of this case was Mobil's reply counterclaim and the Trustees' and Coastal's phosphate counterclaims.

In related litigation in Polk County, Florida, Mobil and other phosphate companies sought to quiet title to certain lands. Those cases resulted in a decision by this Court on May 15, 1986, determining legal issues involved in this case in Coastal's and the Trustees' favor. *Coastal* Petroleum *Company v. American Cyanamid Company*, 492 So.2d 339 (Fla. 1986). This Court specifically ruled that Mobil's reply counterclaim was not properly filed in the Circuit Court of Leon County (A-128).

Only after it became clear that these Leon County claims might also be assigned to Polk County, the home of the phosphate industry, which had been reversed by the Supreme Court decision and where Coastal felt it could not receive a fair trial, Coastal, on January 26, 1987, filed its notice of voluntary dismissal here in Leon County (A-

21). On February 19, 1987, Mobil also filed a notice of voluntary dismissal of its new reply counterclaim (A-24). Thus, both Coastal and Mobil filed notices of voluntary dismissal in 1987 on matching issues.

Subsequently, the Trustees entered into a settlement with Mobil releasing each other from any claim for costs in Polk County or in this case. Under that settlement, the Trustees were guaranteed title not to just the ordinary high water line, but to the 25 year flood plane plus 2000 acres of land outside that area in return for dropping the Trustees' claims (A-115).

Despite Mobil's own notice of voluntary dismissal and this settlement, and despite the federal nature of the costs, Mobil filed a motion to tax essentially all costs on August 21, 1987, seeking expenses against Coastal premised upon Coastal's notice of voluntary dismissal (A-30). The list of expenses included those federal costs which had accrued in Federal Court during removal (A-32). These federal costs amounted to 82% of the total expenses on the list and were largely expert witness preparation charges, not allowable under federal law. These federal expenses were not included in Mobil's federal Bill of Costs.

The list of expenses Mobil sought included all expenses of its defense, whether attributable to the Trustees' claims, Coastal's claims, or its own new claim, the reply counterclaim. No allocation was made between the expenses

for defense of the Trustees' claims although some were excluded that could only be identified in the Trustees' claims. Even though there were two claims for conversion, one by Coastal and one by the Trustees, none was assigned to the Trustees. No allocation - even though Mobil's recent settlement with the Trustees waived any claim to expenses against the Trustees (A-121).

The list of expenses Mobil sought also included such items as title search and deraignment costs (A-61). It included expert preparation time even though the experts were neither qualified nor testimony given at trial.

Coastal objected to the motion to tax costs and to these items of expense. The Circuit Court rejected some of Mobil's expense items, but included all of those above discussed, entering a cost judgment for \$2,117,992.34 on December 16, 1987 (A-8). Coastal paid the judgment under protest.

of the departure from Because the essential requirements of the law, including: the award of costs where Mobil has also filed a notice of voluntary dismissal; the award of expenses where all costs are assessed against only one of two defendants; the award of expert preparation time amounting to paralegal work; and the award of expert preparation fees on voluntary dismissal; and the assessment of federal costs where: the federal court specifically reserved jurisdiction over costs; the state courts have no

express authority over such costs; the federal determination of costs is binding and <u>res</u> judicata of the issue and the issue of expert fees in federal court is governed by federal law disallowing such fees, Coastal sought a writ of certiorari from the District Court of Appeal, First District. The writ was denied on October 19, 1989, but the District Court certified a question of great public importance to this Court.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Rule 1.420(d), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, provides that costs of an action may be awarded after a voluntary dismissal. Expert witness expenses after a voluntary dismissal are not specified by that or any other Rule. Section 92.231, Florida Statutes, however, precludes fees of experts unless the experts are permitted to qualify and testify by the court. Here the cost judgment included \$1.8 million of expert expenses where the experts neither were permitted to qualify and testify by the court. The decision is at odds with Junkas v. Union Sun Homes, Inc., 412 So.2d 52 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982).

Further, here this cost judgment was awarded against the Defendant and arose after notices of voluntary dismissal were filed by both plaintiff and defendant on the same issues so neither could be termed a prevailing party in this proceeding. Even further, the vast bulk of these costs accrued during a period of removal to Federal Court and were governed by federal law which does not allow recovery of such expert expenses.

The District Court should have quashed the Circuit Court's judgment for two other reasons. First, there was no allocation of such costs between two Defendants' claims. Second, paralegal and title search costs were allowed even though no legal fees were authorized by law or otherwise.

Rule 1.420(d) does not permit the taxation of such expert preparation time after a voluntary dismissal. Coastal submits that the Court should exercise its discretion to review this case because of the chilling effect upon the use of voluntary dismissals. The judgment of the District Court should be quashed for these reasons and the District Court should be ordered to enter its own order quashing the Final Judgment of Costs.

Ι

#### POINT I

THE TERM "COSTS" IN RULE 1.420(d), FLORIDA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, DOES NOT INCLUDE CHARGES OF EXPERT WITNESSES WHO ARE NEVER QUALIFIED AND CALLED TO TESTIFY.

A. Section 92.231, Florida Statutes, precludes expert witness charaes here of any kind.

The bulk of the costs included in the cost judgment were Mobil's expert witness preparation charges. Although Rule 1.420(d), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, does not specify what kinds of expenses are recoverable costs after a voluntary dismissal, Section 92.231 precludes expert preparation charges.

As the District Court correctly stated:

"The rule does not define costs, nor does there appear to be any case law construing the term as used in this rule." (A-5)

No case has ever held the term "costs" in the context of Rule 1.420(d) to include the charges of experts who have not actually been qualified or actually testified in the proceeding. Rule 1.420(d), Fla.R.Civ.P., provides in pertinent part:

> "(d) Costs. Costs in any action dismissed under this rule shall be assessed and judgment for costs entered in that action."

No description nor definition is given to the term "costs" in Rule 1.420(d), Fla.R.Civ.P. Like other provisions for assessment of costs, other substantive law actually

specifies what expenses are included within the word "costs,"

At common law "fees" themselves were not allowed as Even today, only those "fees" and costs which are costs. provided for by statute or rule are recoverable. There are statutory substantive provisions for costs. Section 57.041 and Section 57.071. A similar substantive provision is also made for witness fees. Section **92.151**. Only one substantive provision of law addresses the allowance of any charges for expert fees, Section 92.231. The statute is clear, however, that only where the witness has been permitted by the Court to <u>qualify</u> and <u>testify</u> may such expert witness charges be allowed. It is undisputed that no such qualification or testimony took place in this case.

In a recent case, the Court emphasized the requirement of testimony of the experts under Section **92.231**:

"Section 92.231, Florida Statutes (1983), provides:

(1) The term 'expert witness' as used herein shall apply to any witness who offers himself in the trial of any civil action as an expert witness or who is subpoenaed to testify in such capacity before a state attorney in the investigation of a criminal matter, or before a grand jury, and who is permitted by the court to qualify and testify as such, upon any matter pending before any court.

(2) Any expert or skilled witness who shall have <u>testified</u> in any cause shall be allowed a witness fee including the cost of any exhibits used by such witness in the amount of \$10 per hour or such amount as the trial judge may deem reasonable, and the same shall be taxed as costs." Travieso v. Travieso, 474 So.2d 1184, 1185 (Fla. 1985).

See also *Murphy* v. *Tallardy*, 422 So.2d 1098, 1099 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

What Rule 1.420(d), Fla.R.Civ.P., essentially does is to procedurally allow premature assessment of some expenses. Normally costs await the final determination. But where there has been a voluntary dismissal without prejudice, as here, some expenses that have substantively accrued may be assessed as costs immediately. Only those expenses that may be awarded as a matter of substantive law can be said to have accrued. Since these expert charges do not accrue until the experts are permitted by the Court to qualify and testify, there is no substantive accrual of any such expenses at the time of a voluntary dismissal.

In a similar situation involving directed verdicts, "costs" have been held not to include expert witness fees because the expert witnesses have not been permitted by the Court to testify. Junkas v. Union Sun Homes, Inc., 412 So.2d 52 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), and KMS of Florida Corp. v. Magna Properties, 464 So.2d 234, 235 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985). In fact in Junkas, supra at 53, the court held:

> "Appellee cites Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.420(d) providing for costs in any action dismissed under that rule. That rule inapplicable is because Rule 1.420(b) provides for an involuntary dismissal for insufficiency of proof 'after a party seeking affirmative relief in an action tried  $by \ the$ court without a jury has completed the

presentation of his evidence . . . ' and this In any event, that rule was a jury trial. begs the question here, which is whether an expert fee is a taxable cost under the Section 92.231(2), Florida <u>circumstances.</u> Statutes (1981), provides for the allowance of an expert witness fee for any expert or skilled witness 'who shall have testified in any cause.' Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.390 (c) provides that 'an expert or skilled witness whose deposition is taken shall be allowed a witness fee . . .." Counsel at oral argument conceded that this witness had never been deposed. Costs are taxable only where authorized by statute or rule. No applicable statute or rule permitting the allowance of an expert witness fee under the circumstances in this case has been directed to our attention, " (Emphasis supplied.)

The District Court held that these two cases, which held Section 92.231(2) to exclude expert fees, were distinguishable for two reasons: first it found that the expert witnesses were deposed, and second, that because they involved directed verdicts, the prevailing party had prevailed on their **own** initiative and chose not to use expert witnesses. The District Court also recognized, however, that this conclusion would have a chilling effect upon voluntary dismissals and certified this conclusion to this Court.

As to the first reason for distinguishing these two cases, that the experts were deposed, it must be noted that Section 92.231(1) requires that the testimony be given ".

<u>in the trial</u> . . . " and the expert has been ". . .
 permitted by the court to <u>qualify</u> and testify as such . .
 . " Section 92.231 does not address deposition testimony.

To suggest that Section 92.231 allows a fee to an expert other than when the expert is permitted by the Court to <u>qualify</u> and <u>testify</u> is contrary to the express wording of that section.

It is true that in Junkas, supra, the court there referred to absence of the expert's deposition, but in addressing depositions that court referred to Rule 1.390(c), F.R.Civ.P., not Section 92.231. Depositions of some experts were taken by Mobil and the Trustees. The total assessed extent of the expert for depositions are determined in the order as \$183.33. The total pretrial preparation expenses allowed for experts was \$1,937,232.14 (A-9). In fact, what occurred was a demand for depositions in Federal Court by Mobil which insisted upon taking more of Coastal's expert depositions. Coastal informed the Court it did not desire to take depositions, but the Trustees did desire to take such depositions. Those Trustee deposition expenses were removed from Mobil's request for costs. Thus while the District Court was correct that some experts were allowed and were deposed while in Federal Court, these were at the insistence of Mobil or the Trustees. As the judgment for costs reflects, other such expenses were miniscule. Even if these deposition expenses of \$183.33 were permitted by Rule 1.390(c), certainly the mountainous \$1,937,232.14 of other expert preparation expenses could not ride the coat tails of that Rule.

The first distinction pointed to by the District Court below for ignoring Junkas does not pass scrutiny. Deposition testimony is clearly not within Section 92.231. Rule 1,390(c), even if applicable to the minor federal court depositions of some experts taken at the insistence of Mobil and the Trustees, could not justify the major expert pretrial preparation expenses more than 2000 times larger. The "finding" by the District Court that the experts were deposed is not complete nor pertinent to the very large expenses assessed under Rule 1,420(d),

The second reason given for distinguishing Junkas also does not pass scrutiny. The District Court sees a waiver of a right to expert expenses by a defendant who seeks a directed verdict. That analysis presumes a right to expert expenses before that time, however. This reasoning is circular and ignores the absence of the <u>qualification and</u> <u>testimony</u> required before Section 92.231 permits a fee. If there is no right shown to exist, a waiver is a very hollow gesture.

The facts here show that Mobil filed its own reciprocal claim, the so-called "reply counterclaim," to prevent the early voluntary dismissal. Had it not impeded the amalgamation of all claims to one court, the Federal Court, then the expenses it was awarded below would never have been expended in this case. Furthermore, if Mobil had not dropped its own reciprocal claim, it might have used one or

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