### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF' FLORIDA

COASTAL PETROLEUM COMPANY, a Florida corporation,

Petitioner,

vs .

CASE NO. 74,975 First DCA Case No. 88-119

XOBIL OIL CORPORATION, a New York corporation,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY PROCEEDING TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA, CERTIFYING A QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

RESPONDENT MOBIL OIL CORPORATION'S BRIEFON THE MERITS

Julian Clarkson (FBN 013930) Michael L. Rosen (FBN 243530) HOLLAND & KNIGHT 600 Barnett Bank Building Post Office Drawer 810 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (904) 224-7000

Attorneys for Mobil Oil corporation

##

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

The Second District Court of Appeal and this Court had previously determined that Mobil's reply counterclaim, which sought a declaration of rights with regard to an 80-acre parcel of land on the Peace River, was a local action over which the Leon County Circuit Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction. Thus, the reply counterclaim was already a juridical nullity, and the notice of voluntary dismissal filed by Mobil after Coastal had voluntarily dismissed its claims was merely a procedural formality that had no greater purpose or effect than to clear the record in accordance with the prior jurisdictional determination.

а

а

## C. The Assessment Of Costs Incurred By Mobil While The Case Was Wronafully Removed To Federal Court Was Authorized And Proper.

a

a

a

a

Coastal next contends that the trial court could not assess any costs incurred by Mobil during the nearly two and one-half year period while the case was pending and being prepared for trial in federal court following the wrongful removal by Coastal and the Trustees. Specifically, Coastal argues (a) that the state trial court lacked jurisdiction to consider costs accrued while the case was removed because the federal court had the exclusive authority to award such costs; (b) that the proceedings following removal constituted a separate federal case for which Florida law does not authorize the assessment of costs; (c) that the federal court's order awarding Mobil that limited portion of its costs occasioned by the wrongful removal and trial Coastal's Fourth Counterclaim constituted res judicata as to <u>all</u> costs incurred with respect to <u>all</u> claims during the period of wrongful removal; and (d) that the costs expended by Mobil during removal were incurred in a separate federal action and thus are governed by federal law, which disallows expert witness fees and other large costs without advance approval.

coastal's position is inconsistent with the policy that the rule requiring payment of costs is designed to promote. Clearly, costs cannot be awarded under any circumstances until the right to recover such costs ripens—

i.e., until it can be determined (a) which party is entitled to recover costs, and (b) the total amount of costs to which that party is entitled. <u>Under Coastal's theory</u>, the federal court would have been required to rule upon a motion to tax costs in the middle of the proceedings, at a time when the suit had not vet been concluded in a manner that entitled either party to recover costs, and while costs were still accumulating.

a

a

There can be no doubt that if Mobil had moved to tax costs other than those occasioned by the wrongful removal at the time of remand, Coastal would have protested that any award of such costs was premature; and properly so, because the right to recover general litigation costs could not ripen until that litigation was concluded either by a disposition in favor of one of the parties or, as here, by a dismissal. In effect, Coastal seeks to take advantage of its own wrongful removal of the case and simply walk away with impunity by taking a voluntary dismissal, concededly for the tactical purpose of facilitating forum-shopping, while leaving Mobil to bear the expenses which Rule 1.420(d) expressly requires to be imposed on Coastal as the party taking such a dismissal.

Coastal seeks nothing less than to be rewarded for its wrongful removal of the case and flagrant forum-shopping tactics. Coastal's position that Mobil cannot recover costs

incurred while the case was removed to federal court should be rejected as utterly frivolous.

1. The Trial Court Had' Jurisdiction To Assess Costs That Were Incurred While The Case Was Wrongfully Removed To Federal Court.

Although no authority is cited for the proposition that a federal court has exclusive jurisdiction to assess all costs that accrue while a case is pending in federal court following a wrongful removal, Coastal attempts to support that theory here by fabricating an argument upon several faulty premises. First, Coastal mischaracterizes the remand in this case as a "partial remand," and contends that the trial court could not proceed to consider those costs incurred in federal court because jurisdiction over "that part of the case" was never remanded but was expressly reserved to the federal court.

As made clear in the very authority cited by Coastal, however, a "partial remand" refers to situations where a federal court has determined pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1441(c) that the removed case contains "separate and independent claims or causes of action," some of which are "not otherwise within its original jurisdiction" and should properly be severed for remand to state court. 1 A Moore's Federal Practice, ¶0.168[4,-2] n.28 and ¶0.163[4.-9]. The federal court in this case did not sever and retain jurisdiction over any separate and independent claim or cause of action, but remanded the entire case. Of more direct

significance here is the statement in Moore's, which appears two paragraphs above the one quoted by Coastal, that "[i]n remanding, the district court may order the payment of just costs occasioned by the removal. . . . " Id. at ¶0.168(4.-2), p. 655 (emphasis added).

Clearly, the provision of 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c) that the federal court upon remand for lack of jurisdiction "may order the payment of just costs" contemplates only those costs occasioned by or accruing by reason of the wrongful removal, and not all general litigation costs incurred while the case was pending in federal court. In most instances, of course, all costs that arise between removal and remand are attributable to obtaining the remand order, because the jurisdictional question is resolved before any further proceedings are conducted. Where, as here, the parties conducted extensive discovery and trial preparations while the case lingered in federal district court until the federal appellate court ordered a remand, it is necessary to distinguish between those costs incurred by reason of the improper removal, entitlement to which ripens upon the determination that the case must be remanded, and general litigation costs, entitlement to which does not ripen until the proceedings are concluded in the state court after remand.

As previously noted, the authority of the federal court to award costs upon remand is necessarily limited to

those costs occasioned by the wrongful removal, because neither the entitlement to nor the amount of other litigation costs can even be determined until the disposition of the substantive claims -- a disposition which the federal court lacks jurisdiction to effect. Where a case is remanded to state court for continuation of the proceedings, neither party has "prevailed" or otherwise become entitled to recover costs relating to the litigation of the substantive claims until those claims are resolved or dismissed. matter concluded at the point of remand, and thus the only matter with respect to which the federal court could conceivably be authorized to award costs, is the propriety of the removal itself. Mobil properly requested and received those costs that would not have been incurred but for the wrongful removal at the time of remand; but Mobil had no basis for claiming entitlement to any other costs at that time, and Coastal has suggested none.

а

a

а

Coastal next asserts that the federal court has authority to tax costs on remand not only under \$1447(c), but also pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1919 and Rule 54(d). 28 U.S.C. §1919 provides:

Whenever any action or suit is dismissed in any district court or the Court of International Trade for want of jurisdiction, such court may order the payment of just costs.

This provision is inapplicable here because it relates only to the <u>dismissal</u> of cases <u>originally filed</u> in federal court, not to the remand of cases removed from state court.

a

a

Despite Coastal's attempt to equate a dismissal for lack of jurisdiction with a remand, there is a material difference of critical significance here: a dismissal terminates the case; a remand simply transfers the case back to state court for continuation of the proceedings that were wrongfully removed from state court. In effect, upon remand the suit is "sent back to the state court to be proceeded with there as if no removal had been had." Railroad Co. v. Koontz, 104 U.S. 5, 16 (1881). Since \$1919 only permits an award of costs where a case is concluded by dismissal, it could not authorize such an award where, as here, the case is remanded to state court for the resumption of ongoing, unresolved litigation.

Costal's reliance on Rule 54(d) is likewise misplaced. First, the rule only authorizes an award of costs where there is a "judgment," which is defined in Rule 54(a) as "a decree and any order from which an appeal lies"; the removal statute expressly provides that "[a]n order remanding a case to the State court from which it was removed is not reviewable on appeal or otherwise. . . " 28 U.S.C. \$1447(d). Thus, since the remand order was not one "from which an appeal lies," and since it did not dispose of or affect any substantive rights of the parties, see Glasser v.

Amalaamated Workers Union Local 88, 806 F.2d 1539, 1540 (11th Cir. 1987), it cannot be regarded as a "judgment" either by definition or as a practical matter.9

Coastal has failed to provide any authority to support its contention that the federal court could have awarded costs other than those occasioned by the wrongful removal in this case, or that any other litigation costs may be awarded as "just costs" under 28 U.S.C. §1447(c). The federal court's reservation of jurisdiction to assess costs when it remanded the case to state court was limited to those costs incurred by reason of the wrongful removal, 10

Except when express provision therefor is made either in a statute of the United States or in these rules, costs shall be allowed as of course to the prevailing party unless the court otherwise directs.

(Emphasis added.) Clearly, the express provision of 28 U.S.C. §1447(c) for the award of costs upon remand preempts any application of Rule 54(d) to authorize assessment of costs in wrongfully removed cases. In addition, there is no "prevailing party" as a result of a remand order, except with respect to the propriety of the removal itself; thus, it would be impossible to determine which party is entitled to costs under Rule 54(d) other than those costs occasioned by the wrongful removal.

a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Rule 54(d) is also inapplicable here for two other reasons that are readily apparent from its plain language:

<sup>10</sup> Coastal's reliance on <u>Clark v. Fairbanks</u>, 249 F. 431 (5th Cir. 1918), for the proposition that "[f]ederal costs are assessed in federal court by federal rules and state court costs in state court by state court rules" (Brief at 26), is misplaced. The <u>Clark</u> case did not involve the removal and remand of a state court case, but a separate federal action to enjoin a sale of property pursuant to a mortgage foreclosure proceeding in state court. Mobil does not dispute that a federal court has authority to award costs pursuant to federal rules in a separate federal action when

because other costs associated with preparing the substantive claims for trial could only be assessed after the case was remanded and had proceeded to a conclusion in the court having jurisdiction of the claims.

2. <u>The Trial Court Was Authorized To Assess</u>
<u>The Costs That Accrued In Federal Court</u>
As If The Case Had Never Been Removed.

a

Coastal next contends that the trial court lacked power to tax the costs that were incurred during the period of removal because there is no authority under Florida law permitting a state court to assess costs in a federal proceeding. Obviously, this argument is predicated on the notion that the case was a "federal proceeding" from the time of removal until remand, a conclusion that Coastal reaches through the following reasoning:

When the federal removal action started, it was by petition, 28 USC \$1446(a), and was assigned a new case number. For all practical purposes, it became a new case. When it was remanded, the order of remand was a final judgment. Karsoules v. Moschos, supra, and Walsh Adm'x. v. Joplin & P.Ry.Co., supra. The federal costs occurred in a federal proceeding.

Brief at 27-28. Coastal's rationale may be readily refuted.

The contention that removal of a suit to federal court effectively creates a new case was long ago rejected by the federal courts. See <u>Birdseye v. Shaeffer</u>, 37 F. 821,

that action is finally concluded, as in <u>Clark</u>; but <u>Clark</u> is plainly inapposite to a case such as this, where a state court action is remanded for lack of federal jurisdiction to be continued to its conclusion in the state court.

826-29 (W.D. Tex. 1888). Under settled principles, "[a] proceeding removed to a federal court remains what it was in the state court. . . . " New York v. Galamison, 342 F.2d 255, 257, n.3 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 380 U.S. 977 (1965). Coastal's suggestion that upon removal the suit "[f]or all practical purposes . . . became a new case," merely because a new federal court docket number was assigned, is patently ludicrous. As a practical matter, proceedings after removal are simply a continuation of the state court litigation, since the case goes forward without new service of process or refiling of pleadings.

e

Likewise, the remand of an improperly removed case does not mark the end of the lawsuit. Contrary to Coastal's representations, a remand order has never been held to be a "final judgment." The case of <u>Karsoules v. Moschos</u>, 16 F.R.D. 363 (E.D. Va. 1954), states only that "an order of remand constitutes a 'final hearing' under Section 1923" for purposes of assessing docket fees — fees that were incurred only by reason of the wrongful removal to federal court. 11

Administratrix v. Joplin & P. Ry. Co., 219 F.2d 345 (D. Kan. 1915), which simply stated that a remand order is "in the nature of a final judgment" for purposes of allowing the federal docketing fee of ten dollars as costs -- notably, on the rationale that the plaintiffs were required to pay the fee only as a result of the wrongful removal. As the Walsh's court observed, "[i]f the removal is improvidently sought, the removing party should, to this extent, compensate his adversary for the inconvenience and expense to which the latter has been subjected without leaal warrant." 210 F. at 347 (emphasis added).

A remand order has never been deemed a "final judgment," and could not be so construed here because it did not terminate the litigation nor affect the substantive rights of the parties. See Glasser v. Amalaamated Workers Union Local 88, 806 F.2d 1539, 1540 (11th Cir. 1986). The effect of a remand order "is simply the restoration of a jurisdiction previously acquired by the state court, but held in abeyance during the pendency of the cause in [federal] court." Birdseve v. Shaeffer, 37 F. at 828. As the United States Supreme Court has observed, a remand order effectively results in the suit being "sent back to the state court to be proceeded with there as if no removal had been had." Railroad Co. v. Koontz, 104 U.S. 5, 16 (1881).

Consistent with the view that a remanded case should be treated as if it had never been in federal court, the Supreme Court has consistently held that "[i]t will be for the state court, when the case gets back there, to determine what shall be done with pleadings filed and testimony taken during the pendency of the suit in the [federal] jurisdiction." Avres v. Wiswall, 112 U.S. 187, 190-91 (1884); see also Cates v. Allen, 149 U.S. 451, 461 (1893). Generally, state courts treat the proceedings that occurred during the period of removal as if they had been conducted in state court. E.g., Wallace v. Warehouse Employees Union #730, 482 A.2d 801, 803 (D.C. App. 1984) (motion for summary judgment filed in federal court deemed

properly pending in state court after remand); Teamsters

Local 515 v. Roadbuilders. Inc., 291 S.E.2d 698, 701 (Ga.

1982) (timely answer filed in'federal court after removal is

effective upon remand); Armentor v. General Motors Corp.,

399 So.2d 811, 812 (La. App. 1981) (same); Citizens National

Bank v. First National Bank, 331 N.E.2d 471, 476 (Ind. 2d DCA

1975) (motion to dismiss filed but not ruled on in federal

court before remand need not be "refiled" in state court).

a

а

а

a

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